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N/A
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Contributing Noncontributing
9 0 buildings
0 0 sites
1 0 structures
0 0 objects
10 0 total

Number of contributing resources previously
listed in the National Register

N/A

6. Function or Use

Historic Functions
(Enter categories from instructions.)

INDUSTRY/PROCESSING/EXTRACTION: Manufacturing
Facility

Current Functions
(Enter categories from instructions.)

COMMERCE/TRADE: Business

COMMERCE/TRADE: Warehouse

7. Description

Architectural Classification
(Enter categories from instructions.)

MID 19™ CENTURY: Greek Revival

Narrative Description

Materials
(Enter categories from instructions.)

foundation STONE: Granite

walls STONE: Granite

roof ASPHALT

other BRICK
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DESCRIPTION

Summary

(Note: for clarity, the Main Street elevation of the mill is considered the south elevation)

The Harris Mill is a historic textile mill complex located on the north side of Main Street in the village of
Harris in the extreme northeastern comer of the town of Coventry, Rhode Island. The mill complex is
located on the north bank of the North Branch of the Pawtuxet River, and occupies 4.29 acres on two
contiguous parcels bordered by commercial Main Street to the south, residential Harris Street to the west,
Mill Street to the north, and Broad Street to the east. The mill is approximately one-quarter mile
northwest of the village of Phenix in the town of West Warwick, and one-half mile southeast of the
Interlaken Mill in Coventry, which Harris Mill was associated with in the twentieth century.

The complex includes ten contributing buildings that connect to form the Mill, and one contributing
structure, the Headrace, all associated with the historical development of the property between 1850 and
1953, its period of significance. The ten connected component buildings are: the Main Mill and its North
Addition (Building No. 1), the Spinning Mill (Building No. 2), Weave Shed (Building No. 3), Boiler
House (Building No. 4), another Boiler House (Building No. 5), Engine House (Building No. 6), Pump
Room (Building No. 7), Waste House (Building No. 8), and Picker House (Building No. 9). The land
falls gently to the southeast from a high point at the northwest corner of the property at the intersection of
Harris and Mill streets, resulting in greater exposure of the lower portions of the south and east elevations
of the buildings from northwest to southeast. The single contributing structure, the Headrace, is a
partially watered, 160 ft long, concrete and masonry-lined trench located between Harris Street and the
Picker House. Two buildings located opposite the mill property on the south side of Main Street, the
Opener Room (Building No. 12) and the Store House (Building No. 13) have been heavily altered
resulting in a loss of integrity of historic fabric. Associated discontiguous waterpower infrastructure
including a granite block dam, a section of headrace a section of tailrace, and a potential archaeological
site that may contain remains of previous mill buildings are located south and west of the property across
Harris Street and Main Street. These buildings and waterpower features are not included in this
nomination.

The property is surrounded by complete or partial sidewalks on all sides, and protected by a chain-link
fence on all but the east side, where the Weave Shed rises from the edge of the sidewalk. There are
vehicle gates providing access to large paved parking lots on the south, west, and north sides of the
property, and a paved alley running between the mill buildings connects the north and south sides of the

property.

(continued)
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The Harris Mill has an irregular footprint, reflecting the organic growth of the complex starting in 1850
with construction of the north-south-oriented 1850 Main Mill on the west side the property. Nineteenth-
and early-twentieth-century additions and building orientation were dictated by the need for efficient
centralized power generation and distribution and materials transport between the component buildings of
the mill, and were also constrained by the streets bounding the lot.

The Harris Mill buildings share a common vocabulary of building materials and architectural features
common to mid-nineteenth- and early-twentieth-century New England textile mill construction including
gabled and flat roofs; parged rubblestone and exposed brick walls, and fire-resistive wood and/or steel
frame interior construction with sawn and/or hewn timber members. A notable feature is the decorative
quality of the masonry treatment on the parged rubblestone-walled buildings flanking the paved alley
bisecting the site, which include brick window and door surrounds, some with quoins, with quarry-faced
granite lintels and/or sills.

The mill is currently partially occupied by several commercial concems including a self-storage facility, a
furniture store, and rental office space. The interior spaces have been stripped of all historic textile
machinery, however, some retain minor evidence of power transmission features. The cluster of
powerhouse buildings west of the paved alley at the center of the complex retain a notable collection of
well-preserved examples of historic power generation machinery including a water turbine, vertical tube
boilers, steam- and water-powered electrical generators, and electrical switchgear.

The following component building descriptions follow the growth of the Harris Mill in chronological
order as determined by historical sources including atlases, fire insurance maps, and visual inspection.
The building names, numbers, and dimensions used in this description are taken from Factory Mutual
Insurance Company maps for the Harris Mill complex.

Main Mill (Building No. 1) (original 1850 Section)

The Main Mill is located toward the west side of the property, facing Harris Street to the west. The Main
Mill consists of two attached buildings, the original 1850 Harris Mill, described here, and the ca. 1870
North Addition that completely obscures the north elevation of the 1850 mill and extends north to Mill
Street (described separately below). The 1850 mill is a three-and-one-half-story, rectangular building,
measuring 21 bays, or 172 feet, north-to-south and four bays, or 48 feet, wide east-to-west. A four-and-
one-half-story stair tower is attached to the west facade, with ten bays exposed south of the tower and
eight bays exposed north of the tower. The two northernmost bays on the west elevation are obscured by
a later freight elevator tower built in the corner at the junction between the 1850 mill and the ca. 1870
North Addition. A toilet tower is located at the center of the east elevation, opposite the stair tower.

(continued)
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The building has a moderate pitch gable roof with a full-length clerestory monitor, both covered with
asphalt shingles. The monitor roof includes ogee-profile molding at the gutter line, a deep soffit with a
tall plank fascia with ogee-profile crown molding at the soffit, a continuous band of six-light fixed wood
sash separated by wide vertical planks, and a simple coffered panel at the ends and flanking the tower.
The monitor and the main roof have deep cornice returns with simple, paneled pilasters at the comners of
the monitor. The trim of the main roof is similar to the monitor trim, but with components of slightly
larger proportions. The tower has a shallow pyramidal roof sheathed in asphalt shingles that replaces an
earlier belfry, no longer extant.

The walls and foundation are built of parged rubblestone with horizontal rows of diamond-shaped, cast
iron anchor washers at the interior floor beam lines. On the south elevation, centered between the third
story and attic windows, is a dressed granite block that bears the date “1850.” The window openings are
regularly spaced and approximately one-third as wide as the piers between them. The window openings
have thick split quarry-faced granite lintels and narrower split granite sills that extend horizontally beyond
the window openings.

Many of the window openings are filled with a variety of materials including stuccoed concrete block,
painted plywood, and modemn vinyl double-hung replacement sash. The building retains a number of
historic, 16-over-12-light, double-hung, pegged wood sash with wide, wood brick mold with a simple
bead detail, and heavy wood sills. Examples of these sash are prevalent on the ground story of the west
elevation, and the first and second stories on the south end of the east elevation.

The exterior stair tower on the west elevation has a single door opening on each story with monolithic
granite lintels, sills and piers. The ground level opening contains a modern, insulated steel entry door
with a single, rectangular wire-glass pane. The three upper story openings each contain a set of wood
double doors with four vertical rectangular panels in a cruciform pattern. All of the doors are deeply set
into the granite openings. The windows on the south elevation of the west stair tower are 12-over-12-
light, double-hung, pegged wood sash.

On the east elevation, directly opposite the west stair tower, is a late-nineteenth-century toilet tower. The
tower is one bay wide north-south by two bays wide east-west, with tall, narrow window openings with
granite lintels and sills containing four-over-one-light, double-hung wood sash. The north elevation of
the tower is blank. The second story of south elevation is obscured by a wood frame overhead bridge that
connects the Main Mill to the Spinning Mill to the east.

On the west elevation, south of the stair tower, is a modern, low, rectangular concrete utility enclosure at
ground level, which does not open onto the mill interior. South of this is a six-bay-long, masonry-lined
basement light well. On the south elevation, a distinctive, double switchback fire escape constructed of
bolted and riveted structural steel is located in the two center bays. The fire escape has landings

(continued)
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constructed of a steel strap frame with wood plank decking and steep, ladder-like stairs with steel strap
railings. On the east elevation, the southernmost bay of the first and second stories is obscured by the
Picker House. The second and third southern window openings have been removed to accommodate a
low, wide doorway with a steel lintel that originally opened into a small shed. The remnants of its
modem, poured concrete foundation remain. The fourth bay from the south end contains an original rope
drive opening with quoins and a segmental arch brick lintel, now filled in with brick. A section of the
ground level elevation to the north is partially obscured by a flat roof, one-story connection to Boiler
House No. 5. North of this one-story connection, just south of the toilet tower, is a small open rectangular
area with an open brick-lined sump pit and a small first story connector to Boiler House No. 4 that has
concrete walls, a shed roof, and board-and-batten siding.

The interior spaces of the first, second, and third floors of the Main Mill are divided into two longitudinal
aisles by a single central row of round wood posts, supporting transverse wood beams. Ceiling materials
on those floors consist of the exposed underside of splined, beaded floor planks of varying widths. The
interior surfaces including masonry, ceilings, and structure are painted with the exception of some
surfaces stripped by modemn sandblasting. Interior surfaces including ceiling planks, beams, and some
woodwork trim in the third and fourth floors retain an early coat of tan paint. The floor surfaces have a
maple or pine plank nailed wearing layer, with the exception of the first floor, which is a concrete slab.

The primary feature of the fourth floor, or attic level, is the exposed, painted, king post truss framing
system built of sawn, chamfered timbers joined with oak pegs. Some of the outer diagonal substruts have
been replaced with cast iron or steel pipe brackets. Modem homasote panels have been installed between
the rafters. The panels are absent in several locations where framing indicates the locations of possible
skylights. The east and west walls incorporate trim including a continuous lintel and sill for the band of
monitor windows, with a chair rail and horizontal wood planks between the window sills and the beaded
baseboard. The floor consists of pine or maple planks laid transverse to the long axis of the building, with
two aisles of planks laid longitudinally.

The second and third floors are divided into north and south areas by a modem transverse hallway with
sheetrock walls at the center of the building that connects the stair tower with the toilet tower. The south

half of the third floor retains its open floor plan and houses a slot-car race track clubhouse. The room has
decp window openings with wood trim including a plank framc and lintel with a shallow segmental arch

and pediment. Trim also includes a continuous chair rail under the window frames and beaded baseboard
molding. The floor has been covered with plywood. The structural members, ceilings, and window
frames of this enclosed area were aggressively sandblasted during a prior rehabilitation. At the south end
of this room the ceiling incorporates additional framing elements, shaft hanger bolt holes in the beams,
and rectangular holes in the deck planks. This appears to have been the location of a main shaft pulley
that transmitted power to the attic via a wide belt running through the floor, and is located above the main
belt drive wheels in the south end of the basement. The north half of the third floor has been partitioned

(continued)
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into offices off a double-loaded corridor that have sheetrock walls and carpeted floors. The south half of
the second floor has also been converted to modern offices. The north half of the second floor is partially
divided into older modem offices with wood paneling on the walls.

The first floor retains its original open floor plan with the exception of some small modem office
partitions on the east and south walls. Thirteen of the round wood posts have been replaced with vertical
steel I-beams. The first floor has the same plank window surrounds and chair rail as the upper floors;
however the chair rail is not continuous between the windows. All surfaces are painted, and the floor is a
concrete slab. A small basement occupies a few bays at the south end of the building, and contains an
Allis-Chalmers dynamo and associated belt drive wheels.

The west (stair) tower lobby at the attic level has a plank ceiling, deep chamfered beams, multiple beaded
horizontal plank rails on the walls, plank window frames with deep sills, a continuous chair rail with a
half round lip, cove molding, and beaded baseboard. The stairs from the attic to the third floor feature a
chair rail and baseboard that match the lobby area above, and a historic wood staircase with wood treads,
nisers, and turned balusters. The third floor stair lobby has a plank ceiling, deep chamfered beams, plank
window frames with deep sills, and beaded baseboard. All of the trim of the third floor lobby has been
aggressively sandblasted. The floor of the lobby area consists of untreated plywood. The stairs from the
third floor to the second floor have been modemized with wood paneling and modern handrails. The
second floor stair lobby has plank ceiling, deep chamfered beams, plank window frames with deep sills,
and beaded baseboard that match the third floor lobby. The wood plank floor of this area is covered with
vinyl roll flooring. The stairs from the second floor to the first floor have been modemized with wood
paneling, and modern handrails. The lobby of the stair tower ground floor has been extensively
modemized, and retains no historic trim. The east toilet tower is empty and unaltered at the attic level,
and contains modern lavatories on the three floors below.

The Main Mill, along with the west section of the connected Picker House (Building No. 9) to the
southeast and the Headrace, were all built in 1850 and are the oldest resources at the Harris Mill site. The
Main Mill originally housed all carding, spooling, spinning, speeders, and weaving operations until
construction of the Main Mill North Addition and the later Spinning Mill (Building No. 2) in 1883.

According to the 1911 Sanbom fire insurance map, the Main Mill at that time had carding machines on
the first floor, spooling machines on the sccond floor, and mule spinning machines on the third floor. By

1922, eleven years after construction of the Weave Shed (Building No. 3), carding was still taking place
on the first floor, frame spinning and speeders were located on the second floor, and speeders were on the
third floor. Some operations then spread out to other buildings, with spooling and some spinning
operations in the 1883 Spinning Mill.

Headrace (1850)

(continued)
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The Headrace is an approximately 160 ft long section of open, partially watered power canal located at
the west side of the property, between Harris Street and the west face of the Picker House. It is divided
into two sections separated by a bulkhead wall and gate structure. The west two-thirds is watered and has
vertical poured reinforced concrete walls stabilized by two transverse concrete beams above the waterline.
This section ends at a transverse concrete bulkhead wall opposite the southwest comer of the Main Mill.
This bulkhead incorporates a footbridge with a steel grate deck and angle iron railing. A badly
deteriorated timber vertical stem slide gate structure is located immediately east of the footbridge and
bulkhead. East of the concrete bulkhead and gate structure, the headrace opens into a dry forebay with
mortared granite block walls that extend to a riveted sheet iron penstock in the west foundation of the
Picker House. The penstock extends down at a shallow angle into the former wheel pit. A vertical shaft
Leffel-type turbine is located at the bottom of the penstock tube. Historical maps indicate a covered
tailrace extending south from the south elevation of the Picker House to Main Street and then extending
southeast at an angle under Main Street to an outfall at the Pawtuxet River. This tailrace structure is
buried, not visible, and its extent and condition are unknown.

The Headrace was built in 1850 at the same time as the Main Mill, and provided the head of water to run
the waterpower generation equipment at Harris Mill. This equipment consisted of a turbine (in situ) (and
possibly an earlier waterwheel) located in the basement of what is now the west section of the Picker
House (Building No. 9). The shaft and gearing system that transferred the mechanical power from the
wheel to the main lineshafting in the Main Mill is located in the first floor of the west section of the
Picker House.

Picker House (Building No. 9) (1850 with ca. 1915 addition)

The Picker House is located southeast of the Main Mill, south of the Engine House. It is a rectangular,
10-bay, 67 ft long east-west, by 47 ft wide north-south building consisting of two sections attached by a
wide overhead bridge. The west section (“wheelhouse”), built at the same time as the 1850 Main Mill, is
attached to the southeast comer of the Main Mill, at the east, downstream end of the Headrace, and
contains a ground-level wheel room where the waterpower turbine and drive gears and shafts are located.
The east section (“Picker House addition”), added about 1915, is attached to the south end of the Waste
House. A full-width overhead bridge, which is part of the east addition, forms a first-story tunnel through
the middle of the building, which provides passage between the north and south sides of the property via a
paved alley. Although the east addition was built about 1915, its construction included a parged outer
finish and granite trim, which smoothly integrates it into the two mid-nineteenth-century stone buildings
it connects.

The west wheelhouse section is a rectangular, two-and-one-half-story, three-bay long east-west by two-

bay wide north-south building with a shallow gable roof sheathed in asphalt shingles, with parged
rubblestone walls with granite block window lintels and sills. The wood roof trim of the west section is

(continued)
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identical to that on the Main Mill, including the ogee-profile molding at the gutter line, a deep soffit with
a tall plank fascia, ogee-profile molding at the soffit, and deep gable retums.

The south elevation contains six window openings. The two second-story openings contain original six-
over-six-light, double-hung wood sash with the same flat, wide, beaded brick mold found on the Main
Mill. The remaining south elevation window openings are filled with painted plywood. On the north
elevation there are five window openings, three on the second story and two in the upper gable. These
contain original twelve-over-twelve-light, double-hung wood sash. The sole window on the east
elevation is a single fixed, 12-light wood window located in the southern bay of the first story. The west
elevation of the wheelhouse i1s unfenestrated and contains a broad, recessed, segmental arch above the
brick foundation wall containing the turbine penstock.

The center bay of the south elevation is a hoist bay, with deep doorways with a quarter round brick mold,
framed with quarry-faced granite blocks. The first story hoist doorway is blocked by a plywood panel,
and the second story hoist doorway contains a set of wood double doors with diagonal tongue-in-groove
plank panels. On the east elevation first story, the north bay contains a wood plank door. The north
elevation contains two doors, one on the first story containing a wood replacement door in an original
opening with granite lintel and sill, and one on the second story in the easternmost bay containing a wood
and glass entry door and a set of wood stairs.

The interior roof framing of the west wheelhouse section incorporates a row of exposed king post trusses
built of sawn and chamfered members joined by oak pegs, and incorporates closely spaced rafters. The
space between the rafters is filled with beaded tongue-in-groove wood plank with a quarter round trim at
the perimeter. The windows on the north and south walls retain their original wood trim including a
plank frame with deep sill, and a segmental arch with a shallow pediment. The walls of the interior space
are painted plaster. The floor surfaces are narrow pine or maple planks. A modem office enclosure with
wood stud and sheetrock walls is located in the east-center section of the space.

The ca. 1915 Picker House addition to the east is a rectangular, two-story, four-bay by four-bay building
with a built-up, sloping shed roof. Roof trim consists of ogee-profile molding and a simple plank soffit

and fascia. The walls are parged rubblestone. The window openings are tall and rectangular, wider than
the spandrels, and have quarry-faced granite lintels and sills that extend beyond the window openings.
The window openings on the first story contain vinyl replacement casement windows within a plywood
filler panel, while the second story openings contain painted plywood but retain their original wood brick
mold. On the west elevation of the Picker House addition are two doorways with brick quoins with
granite lintels and sills, flanking a single window opening. The north opening contains a pair of original
wood doors with diagonal tongue-in-groove panels, and the south opening contains a wood and glass
entry door with tongue-in-groove lower panels.

(continued)
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A prominent historic industrial feature of the Picker House is the broad, squat, rectangular, exterior, red
brick “chimney” centered on the east elevation. This structure is indicated on fire insurance maps as a
“dust flue.” The dust flue has a slight taper toward the top, a shallow corbel with a single brick string
course, and a narrow, bush-hammered granite cap. In the first story of the east elevation is a single
doorway with a quarry-faced granite lintel and heavy cast iron hinges. This doorway is covered by a
plywood panel. The dust flue was associated with collecting dust from the air in the rooms where the
cotton picking machines operated, which were typically very dusty areas.

The bridge connecting the second stories of the west and east sections of the Picker House was built as
part of the addition about 1915. The bridge is three bays wide by two bays deep and extends across the
entire width of the east side of the wheelhouse section. The sloping, built-up roof of the bridge is
continuous with the roof on the rest of the Picker House addition. The walls of the bridge are sheathed in
parged rubblestone with tall, rectangular window openings with quarry-faced sills and lintels. The
window openings contain ten-over-ten-light, double-hung wood sash with an elliptical brick mold. The
bridge is built on six rolled iron I-beam stringers which support a floor deck of transverse, splined, beaded
deck planks. The two outer beams are deeper than the inner beams. The inner beams are set on cast iron
shoes that are mortared into the exterior walls of the east addition and west wheelhouse sections of the
building. The interior space of the bridge is open with a single north-south row of round wood posts
supporting the junction of the wheelhouse roof trusses and bridge roof beams. The second floor of the
east addition has been converted to a machine shop and storage area and is separated from the bridge and
wheelhouse section by a wood stud and wire partition wall. The original surfaces in the north half of the
first floor of the east addition are exposed including the splined, beaded ceiling planks, deep beams and
exposed masonry walls. The south half of the east addition has been converted to office space with
modemn wood stud and sheetrock walls.

The Picker House was built in sections from west to east. The west, gable-roofed section, which served
as the wheelhouse, was built in 1850 and housed the waterpower generation equipment at Harris Mill.
This equipment consisted of a turbine (in situ) (and, possibly, an earlier waterwheel) located in the
basement. The system that transferred the mechanical power from the wheel to the main lineshafting in
the Main Mill consists of a vertical shaft off the turbine, beveled 90-degree transfer gears, and a
horizontal shaft with a beltwheel. The beltwheel drove a wide drive belt that passed through the
northwest comer of the building into the basement of the Main Mill where another set of beltwheels are
located that drove the lineshafting, and later, the Allis-Chalmers dynamo located in the southeast corner
of the Main Mill basement. The 1911 Sanborn fire insurance map indicates that the west section housed
picking operations on the first and second floors, and a waterwheel in the basement. By the 1922 map,
after the building had been expanded, the building contained a carpenter’s shop on the second floor, and
picking operations on the first floor.

Waste House (Building No. 8) (by 1870)

(continued)
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The Waste House, originally a freestanding building, is attached to the north side of the east addition to
the Picker House, south of the Spinning Mill and east of the Engine House. The Waste House and Picker
House addition are separated by a brick firebreak wall topped by a terra cotta drain tile coping that
partially projects from the east elevation. The Waste House is a rectangular, five bay, 45 ft long north-
south by two bay, 32 ft wide east-west building. It has a moderate-pitch gable roof sheathed in green
asphalt shingles, and wood trim including an ogee-profile molding at the gutter line and a simple plank
soffit and fascia. The exterior walls of the building are constructed of parged rubblestone with window
and door openings featuring brick quoins and brick segmental arch lintels, with some rectangular
windows with quarry-faced granite sills and lintels. On the east elevation, the second story west window
opening is rectangular and contains eight-over-twelve-light double hung wood sash, while the remainder
of the windows on the second and first story are shorter, segmental arch openings containing eight-light
wood sash units. The north bay of the second story is obscured by a modemn steel frame, corrugated
metal-clad connector ramp leading to the Spinning Mill. The south bay of the first story is a doorway
containing original wood double doors with four fixed lights over two tongue-in-groove plank panels,
sheltered by a small shed roof awning. On the north elevation, the ground story is obscured by the Pump
Room, and the exposed second story wall contains two short square window openings with granite sills
and lintels with wood plank panels with inset six-light window sash and iron strap hinges, and a similar
attic window with metal louvers under the gable. On the west elevation, the south bay of the first story is
a doorway containing original wood double doors with three tongue-in-groove plank panels. The rest of
the west elevation is blank, with a portion of the south upper wall obscured by the Picker House addition
bridge. A horizontal row of diamond-shaped cast iron floor beam anchor washers are located at the floor
beam line on the east and west elevations.

The interior of the second floor is a clear-span space without columns with the roof supported by four
exposed king post trusses with diagonal braces at the outer ends and radiating up and out from the bases
of the king posts. The horizontal beams of the trusses are hand hewn with prominent adze marks, while
all other structural members are sawn. All truss connections are mortise and tenon joints joined with oak
pegs. The spaces between the roof rafters are filled with beaded tongue-in-groove wood planks. The
floors are wide pine plank, covered by steel diamond plate panels. A modem toilet enclosure is located in

the southeast corner of the space. A historical wood staircase with plank treads and risers and a simple
wood handrail is centered on the south wall. The first floor is divided into two longitudinal aisles by a

single, centered row of round wood and vertical steel I-beam posts that support four transverse, hand
hewn beams with prominent adze marks. The first floor space has a concrete slab floor and painted
parged walls. The space was last used as the mill pipe shop and still includes longitudinal pipe storage
racks and a turret lathe on the west wall. The south wall includes a wide doorway leading into the ground
level of the Picker House addition that includes a metal-clad sliding fire door.

(continued)
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The first map evidence for a building of this size at this location appears in the 1870 Beers Atlas. The
hand-hewn interior timber construction may indicate an earlier construction date, possibly as early as
1850, contemporaneous with the Main Mill. Sanborn fire insurance maps for 1911 and 1922 indicate the
building as a “cotton house.”

Main Mill North Addition (ca. 1870)

The Main Mill North Addition extends north from the north end of the 1850 Main Mill, and its north
elevation rises from the south edge of Mill Street. It is a rectangular, three-story, ten bay, 91 ft north-
south by seven bay, 71 ft east-west building. The east elevation is flush with that of the Main Mill, and
the west elevation projects 26 feet west of the Main Mill. An original, four-story, one-bay-by one-bay
freight elevator tower with a flat roof and parged rubblestone walls is located on the south elevation of the
addition, in the angle between the two buildings.

The Main Mill North Addition has a flat, built up roof with modern, metal flashing at the gutter line, a
simple ogee-profile molding, a deep overhanging plank soffit, and exposed, beveled rafter tails. The
walls of the addition are built of parged rubblestone. The large, rectangular window openings are twice
as wide as the piers, and have thick quarry-faced granite lintels and thinner sills that both extend
horizontally beyond the sides of the openings. No historic wood sash remain, and the window openings
are filled with painted plywood, parged concrete block, bare concrete block, full-size single- and
multiple-pane fixed aluminum sash, and single- and multiple-pane vinyl and aluminum fixed replacement
sash set into plywood surrounds. Historic photographs indicate that the building originally had 15-over-
15 light, double-hung wood sash windows. All window openings in the freight elevator tower are filled
with parged concrete block.

Entrances are located on the west and north sides of the building. These openings have deep, monolithic
frames of quarry-faced granite. The central bay of the north elevation is a vertical hoist bay with large

stacked openings on all three stories. The third story opening is completely filled with parged concrete
block, the second story opening is partially filled and contains a small replacement window, and the first

story opening is covered with plywood. On the west elevation, a doorway is located in the second bay
north of the south end. It contains paneled wood double doors set deeply into the opening with a
plywood-covered transom, and retains a historic quarter-round wood brickmold. A plywood panel covers
the existing glass lights. The freight elevator doorway in the south elevation of the freight elevator tower
is filled with parged concrete block.

(continued)
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On the west elevation, a modem welded steel fire escape extends up diagonally to the north, with landings
at the second and third stories. Each of the upper story fire doors off the fire escape landings consists of a
modern steel door set into a modern concrete block surround in an original window opening. On the east
elevation, the entire first story is obscured by a modern addition with a flat roof, steel frame, corrugated
metal siding, and two wood personnel doors and a paneled wood garage door.

The interior floor spaces are divided into three longitudinal aisles by two rows of round wood posts,
supporting transverse wood beams. Ceiling materials consist of the exposed underside of splined, beaded
floor and roof decking planks. The third floor, now vacant, has been remodeled for open office space
with carpeted floors, applied texture coating on outer walls, and aggressively sandblasted posts, beams,
and ceiling. The second floor space is also vacant and has not been remodeled. The first floor has a
concrete slab floor and is currently occupied by a furniture sales showroom.

According to the 1911 Sanbom fire insurance map, the Main Mill North Addition housed a cotton room
on the first floor, frame spinning on the second floor, and speeders on the third floor. There is no
indication of function on the 1922 Sanborn map.

Spinning Mill (Building No. 2) (1883)

The Spinning Mill is located at the center of the mill complex, west of the Weave Shed and north of the
Waste House. It is a two-story, rectangular, 15-bay, 175 ft long east-west by 6-bay, 75 ft wide north-
south building with a partially exposed basement on the south elevation. It has a flat, built-up roof with
modern metal flashing at the gutter line, and a simple plank fascia. The absence of any overhang or
exposed rafter tails indicates that the roof may have been replaced and the roof beams altered. The walls
are parged rubblestone with tall, rectangular window openings with narrow piers. Window openings have
segmental arch lintels of three header courses of brick and quarry-faced granite sills. A flat-roofed toilet
tower is located just east of center on the north elevation. Tower materials including walls, trim, window
lintels and sills all match the materials used in the rest of the building. The tower window openings have
all been filled with parged concrete block, except for a single opening at the basement level filled with
painted plywood.

The window opcnings in the Spinning Mill contain a mix of original wood sash, barc concrcte block,
parged concrete block, and single and multiple pane replacement windows within plywood surrounds.
Approximately a dozen original wood sash remain, most concentrated at the ground story on the west and
north elevations. These windows consist of paired, nine-over-nine-light, double-hung wood windows
with a prominent vertical division, with half-arched right and left upper sections. On the south elevation,
every third bay contains a short segmental arch basement window opening containing an original three-
light wood sash.

(continued)
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Entrances are located on all exposed sides of the building. The only original doorway is centered on the
west elevation, under an overhead bridge connecting to the Main Mill, and consists of a tall segmental
arched opening containing an original paneled and glazed wood door flanked by sidelights, with the area
above the door filled with tongue-in-groove beaded planks. The doorway retains its original beveled
brick mold and massive bush-hammered granite steps. On the south elevation, a modem, two-story, flat-
roofed, one-bay square stair tower with stucco-clad concrete block walls, was constructed after 1956.
This stair tower provides access from ground level to the second story only via a pair of steel personnel
doors with single-pane windows. On the north elevation, west of the toilet tower, is a four-bay long,
modem raised truck loading dock with a steel-frame, corrugated metal awning. The masonry under the
two window openings closed to the tower has been removed to create a loading door and personnel door
for a loading dock.

An original, one-story, one-bay wide, enclosed overhead bridge connects the second stories of the
Spinning Mill and the Main Mill. The bridge has a flat, built-up roof, with a simple plank comice and
soffit and exposed rafter tails. It has a timber frame, and walls sheathed in a mix of original stamped
metal tiles and modern vinyl siding. The north and south elevations contain a single one-over-one-light,
double-hung, vinyl replacement window.

Projecting from the west end of the south elevation is a rectangular, 23 ft by 17 ft, partially subterranean
building with parged rubblestone walls, and a shallow gable roof consisting of a later concrete slab. The
building has a single, centered window opening with a quarry-faced granite sill on the south elevation.
On the opposite, east end of the south elevation and east of the modem stair tower, is a free-standing
concrete block walled pit containing a modem process water tank sheltered by a steel frame with
corrugated plastic roofing.

The interior floors of Mill No. 2 are divided into three longitudinal aisles by two rows of 15 round wood
posts that support 15 transverse, deep, sawn wood beams with chamfered comers. Each ceiling bay is
subdivided by an additional transverse beam. The second floor has been partitioned with multiple modern
private offices with wood stud, sheetrock and paneled walls; suspended acoustical tile ceilings; and
carpeted floors. At the southeast corner of the second floor are a modern wheelchair ramp and a modemn

staircase leading down to the first floor and across to the third floor of the adjacent Weave Shed. An
original wood staircasc is located in the southwest corner. The frame of the first floor is exposed, and

includes elaborate cast iron pockets at the tops of the posts. The ceiling consists of the exposed underside
of transverse, beaded, splined floor decking, with a quarter-round molding inside the perimeter of each
ceiling bay. Evidence of machinery drive includes multiple rows of threaded line shafting pins on the
undersides of the beams, rows of corresponding pairs of drive belt slots cut into the ceilings, and later
steel ceiling framing for electrical belt drive motors. The walls of the first floor are painted plaster over
wood lath, with a wood bead molding set into the plaster at the edges of window openings. The window
openings are deeply recessed with sloping sills. The entire first floor has been converted to rental storage

(continued)
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space with wood stud and corrugated metal-walled storage units that do not extend to the ceiling. At the
southwest corner of the first floor space is a cast concrete ramp that leads to the elevated, modem
connecting bridge to the Waste House. A set of wide fire doors in the east wall provide access to the
Weave Shed. The full basement consists of a high crawlspace with a dirt floor, with two rows of square,
mortared granite block piers supporting the structure above.

According to the 1911 Sanbom fire insurance map, the Spinning Mill housed weaving operations on the
first and second floors, with a slasher room at the west end of the second floor. The small one-story
projection on the south elevation is marked “steam box” on the 1911 map, and possibly contained
equipment for conditioning yarn or fabric or the atmosphere in the building. The 1922 Sanbom map
indicates that the building housed spinning and slashing on the first floor, and spooling and warping on
the first and second floors, reflecting the shifting of weaving operations to the 1912 Weave Shed to the
east.

Boiler House (Building No. 4) (1903 et seq.)

Boiler House (Building No. 4) is located east of the Mill No. 1 North Addition, and west of and across the
paved alley from the Spinning Mill. It is attached to Boiler House (Building No. 5) on its south side, with
the two buildings separated by a brick firebreak wall capped with glazed drain tile coping that projects
above the rooflines of both buildings. Boiler House (Building No. 4) is a rectangular, five-bay, 91 ft long
north-south by two-bay, 27 ft wide east-west, high one-story, flat roofed, masonry-walled building. It has
a built-up “flat” mill roof with a subtle longitudinal crown for drainage, wood ogee-profile molding,
modern metal flashing at the gutter line, a simple wood plank soffit and exposed rafter tails with an ogee
detail. A full length, flat-roofed, box monitor with ogee-profile molding at the cornice and shingled ends
1s located on the west edge of the roof. The east side of the monitor is covered with square plywood
panels, and the west side contains a row of nine-light moveable sash windows. The exterior walls are
built of parged rubblestone. Masonry trim includes brick doorway piers with segmental arch lintels, and
brick window frames with projecting quarry-faced granite lintels and sills. Window sash is original with
a row of double-hung, wood, 12-over-12-light units on the upper section of the east and north walls, and a
single eight-over-eight sash window on the ground level of those same elevations. The window openings

retain their original elliptical brick mold. There are four wide segmental arch doorways in the east
clevation, cach containing a historical vertically sliding wood door divided into four blank panels at the

bottom and eight lights above. A single wider doorway is located in the east bay of the north elevation
and includes an inset personnel door. All of these doorways have sheet iron pier guards.

Although the exterior of the building contains two levels of windows, the interior consists of a single
uninterrupted vertical space. The ceiling consists of the exposed underside of the heavy, splined roof
planks, supported by five transverse chamfered wood beams. A set of tall, steep cast iron stairs in the
northwest corner provides access to an elevated metal catwalk along the west wall, under the box monitor.

(continued)



NPS Form 10-900-a
OMB Approval No. 1024-0018
(8-86)

United States Department of the Interior
National Park Service

National Register of Historic Places
Continuation Sheet

Property name Harris Mill, Coventry, Kent County, Rhode Island

Section number 7 Page 14

The interior walls are parged and painted. The floor level is approximately 4 ft below grade and is
covered with a mix of poured concrete slab and brick. The building contains a row of three riveted sheet
iron 225 hp Manning vertical tube boilers (no longer in use) along the west wall. Some areas of the floor
are poured concrete slab, with a brick apron with a row of granite blocks in front of the ash pits for the
vertical tube boilers. A single modern, horizontal Packard boiler is located in the southeast comer of the
room, and an emergency backup diesel generator is located in the northwest comer of the room.

The boiler flues converge on the west side of the building where they pass into a 100-foot tall, round
chimney constructed of glazed red tile block with a concrete cap. The top of the chimney has a multiple-
course brick corbel and is stabilized by three sets of steel bands. The upper steel band incorporates four
copper lightning rods with copper wire conductors running down the sides of the chimney.

The 1903 Sanborn fire insurance map indicates that this building first served as a “coal house” attached to
a small boiler room immediately to the west with a 75 ft high square brick chimney (both no longer
extant), north of the overhead bridge between the Main Mill and the Spinning Mill. By 1911, according
to the Sanborn map for that year, Boiler House (Building No. 5) had been constructed immediately to the
south of the coal house, and had a 100 ft tall brick chimney. The 1922 Sanborn map indicates that the
coal house had by then been expanded to the north and modified and to its present configuration,
containing three vertical tube boilers (in situ).

Boiler House (Building No. 5) (By 1911)

Boiler House (Building No. 5) is located east of Mill No. 1’s east toilet tower, and west of and across the
paved alley from the Spinning Mill. It is located between and attached to Boiler House (Building No. 4)
to the north and the Engine House (Building No. 6) to the south, with the two buildings separated by brick
firebreak walls, leaving only the east and west elevations of the building exposed. Boiler House
(Building No. 5) is a rectangular, three-bay, 34 ft long north-south by two-bay, 36 ft wide east-west, high
one-story, flat roofed, masonry-walled building. It has a built-up “flat” mill roof, lower than the roof of
adjacent Boiler House No. 4, with wood ogee-profile molding, modern metal flashing at the gutter line, a
simple wood plank soffit and exposed rafter tails. The elevated pedestrian bridge connecting the Main
Mill and the Spinning Mill passes through the roof of the building.

The only window opening in the building is located low on the west elevation, in a pit immediately south
of the junction of the building with the Main Mill toilet tower, and contains an eight-over-eight-light,
double-hung wood sash window with quarry-faced granite lintel and sill. On the east elevation, the center
and north ground level bays contain paired wide door openings with brick surrounds including a shared
brick center pier and segmental arch lintels of three courses of header laid bricks. Each opening contains
a historical vertical sliding wood door with four fixed lights in the top half and two rectangular panels in

(continued)
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the bottom half. The south bay contains a door opening with brick piers, granite lintel and sill, and a
modern wood door with an upper single light and three horizontal, rectangular panels below.

The interior consists of a single open vertical space. The floor is a poured, engineered concrete slab floor
with raised concrete machinery pads and sunken drainage trenches covered with steel diamond plate. The
walls are parged and painted masonry, with doorways in the north and south walls connecting to adjacent
Boiler House (Building No. 4) to the north and Engine House (Building No. 6) to the south. An interior
structural steel post and girder system supports a variety of machinery and associated piping. The
underside of the section of the upper story bridge connecting the Main Mill with the Spinning Mill is
covered with fireproof cement over metal lath.

Boiler House (Building No. 5) was built to replace an earlier, smaller boiler house (no longer extant)
located north of the overhead bridge connecting the Main Mill with the Spinning Mill. It originally
housed four horizontal boilers. The boilers were eventually supplanted by the three vertical boilers in
adjacent Boiler House (Building No. 4) to the north. The room now contains electrically driven oil and
water pumps, air compressors and an Ingersoll-Rand single cylinder process water heater.

Engine House (Building No. 6) (By 1911)

The Engine House is located east of the Main Mill, west of and across the paved alley from the Spinning
Muill, and attached to the south side of the Boiler House (Building No. 5) to the north. From the exterior it
appears to be two connected buildings, however, it is actually a roughly L-shaped building with an open
interior plan measuring 57 ft long north-south by 38 ft wide east-west. The building can be divided into
two sections with flush west walls, with a narrower north section and a wider south section, with the
south section projecting several feet east into the paved alley past the north section. The north section is
only exposed on its east and west elevations, and the south section is also exposed on its south elevation.
Both sections have shallow-pitch, built-up gable roofs with deep overhanging soffits with exposed rafter
tails. An box monitor with covered windows is located on an east-west axis on the roof of the south
section where it meets the roof of the north section. The walls are constructed of parged rubblestone with
quarry-faced granite lintels and sills at the window openings, and quoined brick piers with segmental
arches at the door openings.

The north section has a four-bay-wide east elevation with four window openings on the second story level
containing eight-over-eight-light, double-hung wood sash with an elliptical brickmold. The three-bay
first story includes two windows with similar sash, and the north bay contains a set of wood double doors
with rectangular panels on the lower section and nine fixed lights above. The west elevation is mostly
blank with the exception of an eight-over-eight-light, double-hung wood sash window in an opening with
granite sill and lintel on the upper wall at the north end. A large portion of the lower west wall is occupied
by a wide passageway connecting to the Main Mill to the west. It is a one-bay wide structure with a flat,
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built-up roof, parged rubblestone walls and a single window opening with brick sides and bush hammered
granite lintel and quarry faced sill containing a 12-light wood sash window.

The south section has a two-bay wide east elevation with eight-over-eight-light, double-hung wood sash
windows in the second story. The east elevation first story includes a tall, eight-over-sixteen double-hung
wood sash window in the south bay, and wood double doors with lower panels with diagonal tongue-in-
groove planks and six-light windows in the upper portions in the north bay. The four-bay south elevation
window openings contain wire glass panes in eight-over-eight-light, double-hung wood sash with an
elliptical brickmold. The west elevation is unfenestrated, however, it includes a surviving power
transmission feature, a rope drive passage consisting of a tall, narrow brick opening with a segmental arch
lintel that is located opposite an identical feature in the east wall of the 1850 Main Mill. This feature is
clearly indicated as a “rope way” on early fire insurance maps.

Although the exterior of the building contains two levels of windows, the interior consists of a single
uninterrupted vertical space. The ceiling consists of the exposed underside of the heavy, splined roof
planks. The roof support structure consists of conventional transverse beams in the north section, and
shallow king post trusses in the south section. The north ends of the south section trusses and south ends
of the north section roof beams meet directly under the center of the roof monitor where they are
supported by a transverse beam supported by a row of cast iron posts. The timber structural members are
all sawn with chamfered comers. The interior walls are painted cement. The floor is a raised wood deck
with a narrow plank wearing layer on joists supported by massive brick and masonry piers.

The Engine House retains much of its historic machinery. Power generation equipment includes a small
steam-electric turbo-generator consisting of a Curtis condensing steam turbine driving a 750 kw General
Electric generator. Ancillary equipment includes two motor-generator sets to provide the excitation
current for the stator in the steam turbo-generator: one General Electric generator powered by a small
Curtis steam turbine, and a conventional General Electric motor-generator. A bank of black slate switch
gear panels stands along the west wall and contains volt, watt and ampere meters; relays; knife switches;
manual circuit breakers; recording meters; and two chain-driven rheostats. Additional banks of brass
gauges and recording meters are mounted to the north wall. A large Ingersoll-Rand steam-powered air
compressor is located along the east wall. This machinery is not in use and is in excellent cosmetic and
physical condition, although much of it is likely no longer operable.

The Engine House as shown on the 1911 Sanborn fire insurance map contained a 300 hp steam engine
and a carpenter’s shop in its north section, and a 600 hp steam engine on the first floor of the south
section with a cloth room above. This configuration indicates that these buildings originally had second
floors and associated interior structural members. These functions and floor indications do not appear on
the 1922 Sanbom map, suggesting that the interiors were altered to their current configuration by that
time.
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Pump Room (Building No. 7) (By 1911)
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